# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a proceeding for discretionary review from a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, which--expressly and directly contrary to a decision from the Fifth DCA--held that it is not an element of the crime of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer that the Defendant know that the victim is a police officer. The Petitioner, Daryl Thompson, was charged with and convicted of one count of attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer' which conviction was reversed by the Third District Court of Appeal because the jury was erroneously instructed that it could return a verdict of guilty under the State's alternative theory of attempted felony murder. Thompson v. State of Florida, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D286 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996). The Third District noted that this Court's decision in State v. Grav, 654 so. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995) required reversal because the crime of attempted felony murder no longer exists in the State of Florida.

In reversing Defendant's conviction on the attempted murder charge, the Third District noted that there was evidence from which the jury could have convicted the Defendant under the alternative theory of attempted premeditated murder, and held: "We see no impediment to reversing and remanding for a new trial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder where the facts of the case could support a guilty verdict on that charge." Id.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>scriptscriptstyle 1}$  Defendant was acquitted at trial of four other similar counts.

The Third DCA in its decision observed that Mr. Thompson "contends that the trial court erroneously denied his requested jury instruction that it is an element of the crime of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer that the defendant know that the victim is a police officer." Id. The court held: "[W]e agree with the First District in <u>Carpentier v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>review denied</u> 599 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1992) and the cases that follow, <u>Isaac v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), <u>review denied</u> 634 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1994) and <u>Evans v.</u> <u>State</u>, 625 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that the 'statute simply does not require that the offender have knowledge that the victim was a law enforcement officer.!" 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D286 (quoting <u>Carpentier</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 1357).

In its decision, the Third District noted <u>Thompson's</u> reliance "on <u>Grinage v. State</u>, 641 so. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) for the proposition that the state must allege and prove that the defendant knew that his victim was a police officer for a conviction under section 784.07(3), Florida Statutes (1993)." This proceeding ensued based upon the express and direct conflict between the Third DCA's decision in this case and the Fifth District's decision in <u>Grinage</u>.

#### . UMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and accept this case for briefing on the merits to decide the important question whether the Defendant's knowledge of the status of his alleged victim as a police officer is an element of the crime of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer. There is a split in the District Courts of Appeal on that issue which is resulting in inconsistent adjudications, depending upon where the crime occurs, which should be resolved by this Court.

### ARGUMENT

## THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION BASED ON THE EXPRESS AND DIRECT <u>CONFLICT WITH GRINAGE V. STATE</u>

This case is factually and legally indistinguishable from the Fifth DCA's decision in <u>Grinage v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). In <u>Grinage</u>, as in this case, the Defendant was charged with attempted murder of a law enforcement officer arising out of a reverse sting operation gone SOUP in a shopping center parking lot. In reversing the Defendant's conviction and remanding for retrial, the Court in <u>Grinage</u> held that the Defendant's knowledge of the status of the victim as a law enforcement officer was an element of the crime of attempted murder under section 784.07(3), Fla. Stat. The Court held:

We further hold that upon retrial, merely giving the newly approved instructions (instructions that still omit the requirement of intent and the requirement of knowledge of the status of the victim) will not be sufficient to justify the conviction far knowingly attempting to murder a police officer engaged in the performance of his duty.

Grinage urges, and we agree, that before he can be convicted of attempting to murder a police officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty, <u>the State</u> <u>must all</u>eae and prove that he knew <u>his victim was a</u> police officer.

Id. at 1364 (emphasis added).

Petitioner submits that the conflict is so clear and the issue so important that this case should accept jurisdiction outright. Petitioner notes in closing that one sentence of the Third

4

ROY D. WASSON, ATTORNEY AT LAW

SUITE 402 COURTHOUSE TOWER. 44 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 . TELEPHONE (305) 374-8919

District's decision below deserves mention, lest this Court misconstrue that sentence as indicating that the Third District does not believe that it is in conflict with the Fifth DCA's decision in <u>State v. Grinage</u>.

Referring to this Court's decision in Grinage, the Third District held: "However, we do nat read that case as deciding the question of whether or not knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is a necessary element of the offense of attempted murder when a conviction is enhanced under Florida Statute section 784.07(3)(1993)." 21 Fla. L. Weekly D286. The Third District is not denying the existence of conflict with the Fifth District in that sentence, because the Third District in that sentence is referring to this Court's decision in State v. Grinage, 656 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1995), which did not reach the question whether an element of the crime of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer is that the Defendant know his victim to be a police officer. There is conflict between the District Courts of Appeal, and that is all that is necessary to support the exercise of this Court's conflict jurisdiction.

5

## CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the decision below being expressly and directly in conflict with a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal on the same important point of law, and the *issue* doubtless to arise in numerous cases throughout the state, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and accept this case for briefing on the merits.