# **ORIGINAL**



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, OF THE COURT

CASE NO. 87,505

### DARYL THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

\*

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CONSUELO MAINGOT

Florida Bar No. 0897612 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax 377-5655

#

### INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, **DARYL THOMPSON** was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, the **STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. The parties will be referred to as Petitioner and Respondent in this brief. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was convicted of attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer for firing shots at an undercover officer as he tried to escape apprehension during a "reverse sting" operation. (App. A: 1, 5). The charge went to the jury on the theories of attempted felony murder and attempted premeditated murder. The underlying felonies upon which the attempted felony murder charge was based, were armed trafficking in cocaine, conspiracy to traffick in cocaine and armed robbery of the confidential informants, among others. (App. A:5). As a result of this Court's decision in State v. Grav. 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), the crime of attempted felony murder no longer exists and was applicable to cases pending on appeal, including the Petitioner's case. (App. A: 1-2). The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the conviction of attempted first degree murder, returning the matter to the trial court for a new trial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder of the undercover officer, "where the facts of the case could support a guilty verdict on that charge." (App. A:2-3, 5).

The district court further decided that the trial court correctly denied Petitioner's requested

jury instruction that it is an element of the crime of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer that a defendant know that the victim is a police officer, finding that the omission of the requested instruction was not prejudicial error. (App. A:3, 5). The district court opined that Petitioner's reliance on Grinage v. State, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) for the proposition that the state must allege and prove that the defendant knew that his victim was a police officer for conviction under section 784.07(3), Fla. Stat., was misplaced. (App. A:3). The court distinguished subsections (2) and (3) of the enhancement statute, as follows:

...However, we do not read that case as deciding the question of whether or not knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is a necessary element of the offense of attempted murder when the conviction is enhanced under Florida Statute section 784.07(3)(1993).

Section 784.07(2), Florida Statutes (1993) involves the offense of assault or battery upon a law enforcement officer. That section specifies that the assault or battery be committed "knowingly." Section (3) however, pertains to attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty and clearly does not require that the offense be committed "knowingly."

(App. A:3-4). The district court expressly recognized that the Fifth District in <u>Grinage v. State</u> opined that "the state must allege and prove that the defendant knew that his victim was a police officer for a conviction under section 784.07(3), Florida Statutes (1993)." (App. A:3). <u>Grinage v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d at 1364. However, the Third District went on to distinguish its opinion by pointing out that the issue in <u>Grinage</u> as well as the questions certified in that case to this Court, involved the offense of attempted felony murder. This Court affirmed the Fifth District's reversal of Grinage's attempted felony murder conviction, holding that the crime no longer exists, without

deciding the question of whether or not knowledge of the victim's status as a law enforcement officer is a necessary element of the offense of attempted murder when the conviction is enhanced under Florida Statute section 784.07(3) (1993). (App. A:3-4). State v. Grinage, 656 So. 2d 457, 458 (Fla. 1995).

### **OUESTION PRESENTED**

WHETHER THE OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT AND THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA IN *GRINAGE V. STATE*, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)?

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with the Fifth District's decision in Grinage v. State, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). The factual bases upon which each case was decided were different. Moreover, the legal bases were distinct, in that in Grinage the Fifth District struggled with the proposition that an essential element of the underlying qualifying felony (robbery with a deadly weapon) cannot also serve as the overt act (the use of the knife to rob the officer) necessary to prove attempted murder. Moreover, where the Information failed to allege premeditation in Grinageharges constituted no more than aggravated assault of a law enforcement officer, subject to enhancement under section 784.07(2) which requires "knowledge." In contrast, here, the Third District vacated the conviction for attempted felony murder in which the Petitioner shot at the undercover officer after he had engaged in the robbery of the confidential informants and the conspiracy to traffick in cocaine (the underlying felonies), pursuant to this Court's opinion in **State v. Gray.**.. The Third District correctly remanded for retrial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder which was subject to enhancement under section 784.07(3). As the decision below does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision in Grinage v. State, discretionary review in this cause should be denied.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE OPINION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT AND THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA IN *GRINAGE V. STATE*, 641 So. 2d 1362 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution (1986) delineates the circumstances under which this Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal which conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of this Court. See Rule 9.030, Fla.R.App.P. The 1980 and 1986 constitutional amendments set forth limited avenues by which a case could receive review in the Supreme Court of Florida. Conflict jurisdiction can be obtained **only** if a question of law in the case presented expressly and directly conflicts with a **decision** of the Florida Supreme Court or another district court.

Initially, the cases are factually distinguishable. Although both arise out of incidents occurring between undercover law enforcement officers and defendants, in Petitioner's case the charge on remand to the trial court following reversal on the attempted felony murder conviction is of attempted premeditated murder stemming from the shots fired at the undercover "take down" officer as Petitioner was attempting to escape apprehension. In the case of **Grinage**, there was no remand for retrial on attempted felony murder where the underlying felony was the attempted robbery; the act of threatening the undercover officer with a knife constituted the "force" and "threat" necessary to establish the robbery charge and could not also establish attempted felony murder.

Be that as it may, the Fifth District acknowledged that the State's position on the statutory

silence of section 784.07(3) with respect to the requirement of *mens rea* is supported by Florida case law. Grinage v. State, 641 So. 2d at 1364, citing Carpentier v. State, 587 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394, 396 (Fla. 1973); La Russa v. State, 142 Fla. 504, 509, 196 So. 302, 304 (1940). That court continued its analysis, rejecting the theory of statutory silence by pointing out that:

Section 784.07(3) is a subsection of a section entitled "Assault or battery of law enforcement officers. . . ; reclassification of offenses." The purpose of this section is to enhance the penalty for certain offenses against law enforcement officers (and other designated officers) when such offenses are committed while the officers are engaged in their official duties. In subsection (2), the statute increases the penalties for assault, battery, aggravated assault and aggravated battery against such officer if the defendant knows of his or her status as an officer. (Emphasis in original).

While the "knowingly committing" language is not repeated in subsection (3), it is replaced by the legally equivalent word "attempted."

Grinage v. State, 641 So. 2d at 1365. Thus, the reasoning of the Fifth District was founded upon the fact that Grinage was charged with attempted felony murder of a law enforcement officer and that a conviction for the offense of attempt has always required proof of the intent to commit the underlying crime. In that case, the court stated that the underlying crime was "the murder of a police officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty." The court could not find that Grinage *intended* to murder the officer if he did not know that the person was in fact an officer.

The Third District recognized no such distinctions. Its analysis of section 784.07(2), Florida Statutes (1993), clearly distinguished between subsection (2), which specifically requires that the assault or battery be committed "knowingly", and subsection (3) which sets out a separate

offense -- that of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty -- and clearly does not require that the offense be committed "knowingly." (App. A: 4). The Third District went on to state:

Therefore, we agree with the First District in <u>Carpentier v.</u> State, 587 So. 2d 1355 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review denied 599 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1992) and the cases that follow,... that the "statute simply does not require that the offender have knowledge that the victim was a law enforcement officer."

(App. A:4). The Third District went on to find support for the proposition that section 784.07(3) is merely an enhancement of a conviction for attempted murder **if** the victim happens to be a law enforcement officer engaged in the lawful performance of his duty or if the motivation for the attempt was related to the lawful duties of the officer, in this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Iacovone.</u>
660 So. 2d 1371 (Fla. 1995). This Court found that sections 784.07(3) and 775.0825, Florida Statutes (1991) do not apply to all degrees of murder, only to first degree murder, and. . . that [t]he penalty for attempted first degree murder <u>is enhanced</u> when undertaken against a law enforcement officer. . . . " <u>Id</u>. At 1373-74 (emphasis added). (App. A:5).

The distinction between this case and <u>Grinage</u> lies in the fact that here, Petitioner's case is remanded for trial on the charge of attempted premeditated murder of a law enforcement officer and is subject to enhancement under section 784.07(3) which does not require that the Petitioner "know" that the person he attempted to kill was a law enforcement officer. In <u>Grinage</u> the defendant was charged solely with attempted felony murder, the underlying felony being robbery and the factual bases supporting assault and threat rather than premeditated murder, and was subject to enhancement under section 784.07(2) which categorically requires "knowing" the officer's status. Not only are the factual bases different, the legal determination is different,

consequently there is no conflict in the decisions in these two districts.

Petitioner has failed to establish grounds for review of the instant case in light of the above standards. While Petitioner alleges that the opinion "expressly and directly conflicted with the Fifth District" on the issue sought to be reviewed, the factual and legal distinctions between the cases do not establish conflict jurisdiction. Therefore, the State respectfully requests that the petition for review be denied. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

### **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, there being no express and direct conflict established between decisions of this Court or any other district court of appeal of Florida, and based upon the foregoing argument and citations of authority, the Respondent respectfully submits that this Honorable Court should deny discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).